
VIRGINIA: 

BEFORE THE VIRGINIA STATE BAR DISCIPLINARY BOARD 

IN THE MATTER OF VSB DOCKET NO. 24-000-130255 
JOHN KEDRICH EV ANS, III 

AGREED DISPOSITION MEMORANDUM ORDER 
SUSPENSION FOR 365 DAYS 

On Thursday, January 11, 2024, this matter was heard, telephonically, by the Virginia 

State Bar Disciplinary Board upon the joint request of the parties for the Board to accept the 

Agreed Disposition signed by the parties and offered to the Board as provided by Part 6, Section 

IV, Paragraph 13-6.H of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. The panel consisted of 

Kamala H. Lannetti, Chair, Stephanie G. Cox, Donita M. King, Mary Beth Nash, and Elisabeth 

Martingayle. The Virginia State Bar was represented by Joseph M. Caturano, Jr., Assistant Bar 

Counsel. John Kedrick Evans, III was present and was not represented by counsel. The Chair 

polled the members of the Board as to whether any of them were aware of any personal or 

financial interest or bias which would preclude any of them from fairly hearing the matter to 

which each member responded in the negative. Court Reporter Beverly Lukowsy Home, 

Chandler and Halasz, P.O. Box 9349, Richmond, Virginia 23227, telephone (804) 730-1222, 

after being duly sworn, reported the hearing and transcribed the proceedings. 

WHEREFORE, upon consideration of the Agreed Disposition, the Certification, D.C. 

Court of Appeals Order of Suspension, Respondent's Disciplinary Record, the arguments of the 

parties, and after due deliberation, 

It is ORDERED that the Disciplinary Board accepts the Agreed Disposition and the 

Respondent shall receive a Suspension for 365 Days, as set forth in the Agreed Disposition, 

which is attached and incorporated in this Memorandum Order. 

It is further ORDERED that the sanction is effective January 11, 2024. 



It is further ORDERED that: 

The Respondent must comply with the requirements of Part 6, Section IV, Paragraph 13-

29 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. The Respondent shall forthwith give notice by 

certified mail of the Suspension of his license to practice law in the Commonwealth of Virginia, 

to all clients for whom he is currently handling matters and to all opposing Attorneys and 

presiding Judges in pending litigation. The Respondent shall also make appropriate arrangements 

for the disposition of matters then in his care in conformity with the wishes of his clients. The 

Respondent shall give such notice immediately and in no event later than 14 days of the effective 

date of the Suspension, and make such arrangements as are required herein as soon as is 

practicable and in no event later than 45 days of the effective date of the Suspension. The 

Respondent shall also furnish proof to the Clerk of the Disciplinary System of the Virginia State 

Bar within 60 days of the effective date of the Suspension that such notices have been timely 

given and such arrangements have been made for the disposition of matters. 

It is further ORDERED that if the Respondent is not handling any client matters on the 

effective date of the Suspension, he shall submit an affidavit to that effect within 60 days of the 

effective date of the Revocation or Suspension to the Clerk of the Disciplinary System at the 

Virginia State Bar. The Board shall decide all issues concerning the adequacy of the notice and 

arrangements required herein. The burden of proof shall be on the Respondent to show 

compliance. If the Respondent fails to show compliance, the Board may impose a sanction of 

Revocation or additional Suspension for failure to comply with the requirements of subparagraph 

13-29. 

The Clerk of the Disciplinary System shall assess costs pursuant to Part 6, Section IV, 

Paragraph 13-9.E of the Rules. 



It is further ORDERED that an attested copy of this Order be mailed to the Respondent 

by electronic, regular first-class and certified mail, return receipt requested, at his last address of 

record with the Virginia State Bar at 3141 P Street, NW, Washington, DC 20007, and a copy by 

electronic mail to Joseph M. Caturano Jr., Assistant Bar Counsel. 

Enter this Order this 11th day of January, 2024 

VIRGINIA STATE BAR DISCIPLINARY BOARD 

l<'4rn..4 d ~ -
/4amala H. Lannetti 

Chair 



RECEIVED

VIRGINIA STATE BAR 
CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 4, 2024VJRGINIA: 

IN THE MATIER OF 

BEFORE Tlra DISCIPLINARY BOARD 
OF THE VIRGINIA STATE BAR 

JOHN KEI>RJCH EVANS, ID VSB Docket No. 24-000-130255 

AGREED DISPOSITION 
CSUSPBNSION FQR 365DJ\ll) 

Pursuant to the Rules of the $'QpJ'elllC Court of Virginia, PEUt 6, § IV, ,r JJ .. 6.H, the 

Virginia State Bar, by Joseph M. Caturano, lr., Esquire, Assistant Bar Counsel, aiid l<>lm 

Kedrich ,Evans, Ill {''Respondent';), pro se, en.ter: the follo"W'illg Agreed Disposition arising o,ut 

oftbis matter, now pending before the Disciplinary Board of the Virgini'- State Bar putsua:nt to 

Part 6, § IV, ,r 13 .. 24 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. 

I. STIPULATIONS OF FACT 

1. Respondent was licensed to practice law in the Conunonwealth of Virginia on 

September 26, 1980, and licensed to pra~ce law in the District ofCohttnbia on June 23, 1982. 

2.:. On May 16; 2023, the Office ofI>isciplinaey Counsel~ District of Columbia Court 

of Appeals, and Re$pondent, through c::ounsel, filed an Amended Petition for Negotiated 

Discipline {"Amended Petition'') with the Districtof Columbi11 CQurt of Appeals Board on 

Professional Responsibility {"Disciplinary Board"). A copy of the Amended Petition is ,attached 

hereto as Exhi]>it A and incorporated by reference. 

3. The Amended Petition reqµested that the Bxec:utive Attor,ney oftbe Disciplinary 

Board assign aHearing Committee to review the AmendedPetition;,stipulating thilt.Respo,ndlmt 

be suspended from the practice oflaw for 365 days, as Respondent acknowledged that he 



eng~.ged in conduct that violated Rule 8.4(c) of the D;C. Rules of Professi<>nal. Conduot~ 

specifically, while Respondent was a member of the Council ofthe District ofColwnbia 

(''Council'') and Chair of the Board for tl1.e Waahingtott Metropolitan Area Transit AuthQrity 

(''WMA TA';), Respondent did not~ly report his financial holdings, clients and income 

from bis employm~t apart from work at the Council and WMATA. Respondent's failure to 

aCC1,1Qtely report his financial interests and clients ~llStituteci reckle$Smi~taticm, 

4. By Order entered on May 22, 2023, the Chair ofthe Bo'11"d on Professional 

Responsibility, Distt:ict of Columbia Court of Appeals, set the inatter for hearing oa June ·7~ 

2023. A copy of the Order from the Ad Hoc Hearing Committee Chair, Board on .Professional 

Re$p0t1Sibility, District c,f Columbia court of Appeals {Boan! Docket No. 23-ND .. 

001/Disciplinary Docket No. 2020 .. D089) is attached hereto as Exhibit j . 

. 5. Pursuant to the hearing on June 7, 202$, upon the Antended Petition for 

Negotiated Discipline, the Hearing Committee fo11J1d that the negotiated discipline of a 365-day 

suspension w~ j~tified and recommended that it be imposed by the District pf C()lumbia Court 

of Appeals, as reflected in a Co1Tected Report and Recommendation of Ad Hoc• Hearing 

Committee Approving Amended Petition for Nesotiated Discipline, issued on Sep~ber 6• 

2023. A:copy of the Corrected Report from the Ad Hoc Hearing Committee of the District of' 

Columbia Court of Appeals, Board on Profe$sional R:esponst1>iUty, dated Septmnber 6, 2023, is 

attached hereto as Exhibit c~ 

·6. By Order of October 12, 2023, the District of Columbia Court of ApPt,8i.s (NC>, 

23 .. BG-0741 ), plllS\Ulllt to the Hearing Committee's recommendation, ordered that Respondent 

be suspended from the practice oflaw in the District of Columbia for 365 m.,.ys. A copy ofthe 

Onier is attached hereto as Exh,ibit D. 



7. Respondent stipulates and agrees that the Disciplinary• Board of the Virginia State 

Bar Should impose the same di$Ciplitte itnposecl by the District of Columbia Court. of Appeals, 

pursuant to Part 6, § N, 1 13~24 of the Rliles oftb.e Supreme Court ofVirgini~ and that bis 

rei~teinent in the Commonwealth of Vil'ginia should be contingent upon his rems~ternent in 

the District ofColmnbi--. 

PllOPOSB.l) IlIS,POSIDON 

Accordingly, Joseph M. Catutano, Ir., Esquire, Assistant •Bar Counsel, 1md John • 

Ked.rich Evans, III, Respondent, prose, tender to the Disciplinary Bow of the Virginia State 

Bar, for its review and approval, 1;his Agreed Disposition ofa Suspension f()t 365 <biys .. 

In that regard., Respondent must furnish proof of his reinstatement in the District .of 

Columl,ia to the Virginia State Bar before he is readmitted in the Commonwealth of V:irginia. 

Bar CoUilSel and Respondent ap that the effective date for the san.ction. herein 

contained sball be the date of entiy of the Disciplinary Boanl Order approving flus Agreed 

Disposition, 

Respondent is aware that he must comply with the requiretri@nf.8 ·set· forth in the Rules 

of the Supreme Court of Virginia, Part 6, § IV, 1 13-25.0 ifapplicable. 

If the Agreed Disposition is appro.vooJ the Clerk of the Discipllnacy System shall assess 

CQsts pursuant to P.art 6, § lV, ,r 13-9.E c,,f the Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. 



THE VIRGINIA STATE BAR. 

. Caturano, Jr., Esquire 
• stant Bar Counsel, Vitgini4 State Bar 

~ ye;;;:: ;ffe-~-4 Kk~~ 
~edrich Evans, ~prose 

Respondent 
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EXHIBIT 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 
BOARD ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSlBil,ITY 

A 

.,-::-:~, RECEIVED 

l$1 
In the Matter of 

JOHN K. EV ANS, ESQUIRE 

Respondent 

A Member of tbe Bar of the 

• • 
• . 
• • 

• • 
: 
• . 

District of Columbia Court of Appea'ls : 
Bar Number: 362908 
l>ate o.f Admission: June 23, 1982 

• • 

• ---------------• 

M•Y 16 2023 4:07pm 

Board on Professional 
Re$ptlJISibili~ 

Disciplinary Docket 
No. 2020-D089 

AMENDED PETITION FOR NEGOTIATED DISCIPLINE 

Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent agree to enter a negotiated discipline 

pursuant to D.C. Bar Rule XI, § 12.1 and Board Rule 17. Respondent is the subject 

of the above-referenced investigation by Disciplinary Counsel pursuant to 

D.C. Bar Rule XI§ 6(a)(2), 8(a), and Board Rule 2.L 

Respondent is an attorney admitted to practice before the District of Columbia 

Court of Appeals. 

I. Statemen.t of the Nature of the. Matter 

This matter is based on Respondent's alleged misconduct while a member of 

the Council of the District of Columbia and as a member of the Washington 

Metropolitan Area Transit Authority Board between 2016 and 2019. From 2015 



through 2017, Respondent also worked in outside employment at Manatt, Phelpst & 

.Phillipst LLP, where he was of Counsel in the finn's Government Division. In July 

2016, Respondent created his own consulting. firm, NSE Consulting, LLC. While 

o~pying these positions,. Respondent did not accurately report his financial 

holdings, clients, and incoJ11e from hi$ e~ployment apart from work at the Council 

and WMATA. Several ofRes~ndent'-s clients during the relevant reporting period 

had .a financial interest in legislation before 1he Council or .other business with the 

city or WMATA over which Respondent had influence. Respondent's failure to 

accurately report his financial interests and clients constituted reckless 

misrepresentation in violation of Rule 8.4(c) of the Rules of Professional Conduct .. 

II. Stipulation otFacts and Cha.rges 

The conduct and :standards: .that Respondent stipulates are as follows: 

1. In 2005, Respondent purchased 2,047 shares ·of stock in Fidelity attd 

Trust Bank which was subsequently purchased by Eagle Bancorp, Inc. (hereinafter 

referred to as Eagle Bank) for $49,.990.50 and continued to own the .stock until at 

least November 2019. 

2. From October 2015 to November 2017, Respondent worked at the law 

firm Manatt. Phelps, & Phillips, LLP. 
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3. In July 2016, Respondent established his own consulting firm, NSE 

Consulting, LLC. Respondent was the sole proprietor of NSE and had no 

employees. 

COUNCIL OF THE DISTRICT OJ' COLUM]JIA 

4. Respondent represented WQ.td. 2. q a member of th.e council of the 

District of Columbia ftom 1991 to .2020. 

S. As a councilmember, Respondent was subject to the Code of Conduct, 

a set of statutes and regulations applic-1,le to all Dlstrict of .ColUD:lbia gov~rnment· 

officials~ The Code of Conduct was ·enforced by the. Board on Ethics and 

Government Accountability. 

6. As a councilmember, Respondent was requited ·tQ file with BEGA an 

annual financial disclosure statement. Respondent understood the statement's 

purpose was to identify potential conflicts of interest between his financial interests 

and his duties as a councilmember. 

2015 Financial Disclosure Statement 

7. On May 11, 2016, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 

disclosQte statement for the ¢alendar year 2015. 

8. In response to the question "Did you have any outside employment or 

engage .in any outside business during 2015 for which you received income of $200 

.3 



or more?'', Respondent answered 5'Yes" and disclosed that he work~d as Counsel at 

Manatt Phelps. However, wider "Income Received from Outside activity or 

employment," Respondent stated "None (or less than$1;00.l)." In fact, Respondent 

received income from Manatt Phelps in 2015. 

9. In response to the question "Did you have a beneficial interest in or 

hold any security ... at the close of2015 that exceeded in the aggregate $1,000 or 

that produced income of $200 or more?'', Respondent answered "No." The question 

clarified that "securities" included stocks. In fact, Respondent's :shares of Eagle 

Bancorp were worth approximately $100,000 at that time. 

1 0. The financial disclosure statement requited a certification. which 

stated, "I understand that the making of a false statement on this form or materials 

submitted with this form is punishable by criminal penalties pursuant to D.C. 

Official Code § 22-2405 et seq. (2001)." Respondent electronically certified the 

financial disclosure statement. 

2016 Financial Disclosure Statement 

11. On May 11, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 

disclosure statement for the calendar year 2016. 

12. Respondent disclosed that he worked as Counsel at Manatt Phelps and 

was Principal ofNSE. 
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13. However, in response to the q11ei;tion "Did you have a beneficial 

interest in or hold any security ... at the close of2016 that excteded in the aggregate 

$1,000 or that produced income of $200 or more?", .Respondent wwered "No." In 

fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $115,000 .i 

that time. 

14. Respondent electronically certified the financial disclosure statement, 

May to November 2017 Fina•eial Disclosure Statement 

15. On November 1, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 

disclosure statement fol" the period of May tQ November 2017. 

16. Respondent disclosed that be worked .as of Counsel at Manatt Phelps. 

17. Following that disclosure, there was ·a seodon titled "Clients", which 

as'ked "If you answered 'yes,' because you were paid by a client (as opposed to an 

employer) please identify which, if any, client had or has a contract with the District 

or who stands to gain a direct financial benefit 1iom legislation that was pending 

before the Council in between May 2017 and present clay." Respondent used his 

prior year disclosure fonn and thereby did not disclose the .fact that he was a principal 

of NSE (which had been formed ifi the interim), where some of his clients stood to 

gain a direct financial benefit from legislation that was pending before the Council 

between May 2017 and November 2017 (see paragraphs 29-49 below). Furthermore, 
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despite answering "yes,' to the question of whetheJ" he had clients who might gain a 

financial befit from legislation pending before the Council, he did not list thos.e 

clients. 

lB. In response to the question "Did you have a bene11cial interest in or 

hold any security . . . between May 2017 and present day that exceeded in the 

aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of ·$200 or more between May 2017 and 

present-dayT', Respondent answ~ed "No." In 6lct,. Respondent's shares of Eagle 

Bancorp were worth approximately $135,000 at that time. 

19. Respondent certified the :financial disclosure statement. 

2017 Fina:nci1d Dis~losure Statement 

20. On May '.3, 2018,. Respondent caused to be :fi~ his fmancial disclosure 

statement for the calendar year 2017. 

21. Respondent disclosed that he worked as OfCouns~l ~ Manatt Phelps 

and was- Principal ofNSE. 

22. However, in response to the question "Did you have a beneficial 

interest in or hold any security ... at the close of the previous calendar year that 

exceeded in the aggregate $1,000 or that produced in.come of $200 or .more?'', 

Respondent answered "No." In fact, i.lespondenfs shates of Eagle Bancorp were 

worth approximately $ l20,000 at that time. 
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23. Respondent certified the financial disclosure statement. 

January.June 2018 Fin41ncial Dlsdosure Statement 

24. On December 14, 2018~ Respondent caused to be filed bis financial 

•disclosure statement for January through June 20 I 8. 

25. Respondent. disclosed that he wes Principal ofNSE. 

26. Following that disclosure, there was a section· titled "Clients", which 

asked "If you answered 'yes,' because you were paid by a client (as oppos«i to an 

employer) please identify which, if any, client had or has a contract with the District 

or who stands to gain a direct financial benefit from legislation that was pending 

before the Council during the report period." Respondent did not list any clients, 

despite answering 'yes;' some of Respondent's NSB clients stood to gain a direct 

financial benefit from legislation that was pending before the .CQuncil between 

January and June .2018 (see paragtaphs 29-49 below). 

27. In response to the question ''During the r®Orting period did you have 

a beneficial interest in or hold any security ... that exc.eeded in the aggregate $1,000 

or that produced income of$200 or more?", Respondent answered "No.,. In fact, 

Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $100,000 at that 

time. 

28. Respondent certified the financial disclosure statement. 
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The Forge Company 

29. The Forge Company was a holding oompaey which owned a 

commercial parking company" Colonial P.-Idng, Inc. 

30. On October l, 2016, Forge entered into a consulting agreement with 

NSE for one year. Forge paid NSE $25,000 for '~infon.n.ation and advice regarding 

the m.etropol,itan Washingto~, b.C. business community." On Feb11W'Y 20, 2017, 

NSE and Forge renewed the agreett1ent for a year from that date and increased the 

payn1ent to $50,000. 

31. Forge had a direct tinan¢ial interest in the tax rate applicable to 

commercial parking operations, which was set in the District's annual budget. 

32. In 2015, Mayor Muriel Bowser bad pl'C)posed raising the parking tax 

rate from 18% to 22% in her proposed budget for 2016. 

33; From 2015 to 2017~ Resppndent; s_erving as Chair of the Council's 

Finance and Revenue Con:linittee, opposed :raising the parking tax.- rate. The parking 

tax rate remained the samet which benefited Forge's financial interests. 

34. Respondent did nQt list Forge as a client in any of his financial 

disclosure statements. 

Eastbanc, lne. 

35. Eastbanc, Inc. was a commercial real estate and development company. 
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36. On November 1, 2016, Eastbanc entered into a consulting agreement 

with NSE for one year. l3astbanc. paid NSE SS,000 for "infonnadon .and ·advice 

regarding the Washington, D.C. business community." 

37. On November 1, 2018, Eastbanc entered into a second consulting 

agreement for one year. Eastbanc paid $5.000. lor "information and advice regarding 

the Washington, D.C. bu,iness cQtnmunlty" and "information and advice about 

federal matters and opportunities.~• 

38~ In 2010, Eastbanc purchased a parcel of land :ltotn the District to 

develop condominiums. As part of the agreement, Easthanc agreed to also build a 

new library, fire station, and affordable housing unit on the- land. The legi$lation 

approving the· deal, the West End Parcels Development Omnibus Act of 2010, 

established a fund to pay maintenance expenses of the library and fire station. 

.39. On September 16, 2016, a cc:,UJ:icilmember introduced the West End 

Parcels Development Omnibus Amendment Act of 2016. The plan for 

implementing the Act allocated approximately $4.S million to the maintenance fund. 

40. Eastbanc had a direct financial interest in the Act. An employe~ of 

Eastbanc testified in s11pport of the Act. 

41. On January 6, 2017,_ the Council enacted the Act, with Respondent 

voting in its favor. 
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42. Respondent did not list Eastbanc as a client in any of his financial 

disclosure statements. 

Willeo 

43. Willco was a real estate illld development compmy. 

44. On December I, 2016~ Willco en~ into a eon$u1ting agreement with 

NSE for one year. Willco had previously been a client of Respondent at Manatt 

Phelps. Willco paid NSE $50,000 for "'information and advice regarding the 

Washingto~ D.C. business comm~.'' 

45. On November 1, 2018, Willco entered into a second consulting 

~ent for one year. Willco paid $50~000 for "information and advice regard.ing 

the Washingte>n, D.C. business community" and "information and advice about 

federal matters and opportunities." 

46. On March 31, 2017, Respondent introduced the Relieve High 

Unemployment Tax Incentives Act of 2017, which included tax incentives for 

construction of up to three "film, television and digital media construction facilities." 

47. In response to the proposed legislation; Willco developed· a proposal 

for a sound studio that would. allow it to take advantage of the tax incentives. A 

Willco employee testified in favor of the legislation. 
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48. On Febrwuy 2.7, 2018, Respondenes proposed legisladon was 

ultimately enacted as the Relieve High Unemployment Tax Incentives Act of 2018. 

49. Respondent did not list Willco as a client in any of his financial 

disclosure statements. 

SO. Resp1;>ndent's conduct violated the following Rules. of Professional 

Conduct: 

a. Rule 8.4(c) in that he engaged :in conduct involving reckless 

misrepresentation. 

WASHINGTON METRO AREA TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

5 L Respondent served on the Board of Directors of the Washington Metro 

Area Transit Authority from January 2015 to June 2019. Respondent served as 

Chairman of the Board from Jaliuary 2016 to June 2019. 

52. As a member of the WMA TA Board, Respondent was required to 

submit annual disclosure forms . 

.2015 Financial Disclosure Form 

53. On September 22, 201S, Respondent caused to be filed bis annual 

disclosure form for the previous calendar year. 

54. Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the .form called 

for Respondent to "[r]eport for yourself and all Household Members any reportable 
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ownership interests in Parties ... held at the time of filing this fonn that . . . [h Jave 

a fair market value greater than $15,000." The fonn listed stocks as an example.of 

such an ownership interest. In response, ~pondent answered 'W/ A". In fact, 

Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancotp we.te worth approximately $90,000 at that 

time. 

s:s. The disclosure form required a :certification that stated "I CERmY 

that the statements I have made on this form are true, complete and co~ct to the 

best of my lcnowledge. I further acknowledge my continuing obligation to report 

any changes in the above information to the Board Secretary in writing within 10 

days of change." Respondent certified the disclosure form-. 

2016 Financial Disclosure Form 

56. On April 29, 2016, Respondent caused to be filed his annual disclosure 

form for tile previous calendar year. 

57. Under, the section ''Ownership in Parties or Properties,'' the fonn called 

for Respondent to "[ r ]eport fot yourself and all Household Members any reportable 

ownership interests in ?arties ... held at the time of tlling this fonn that ... [h]ave 

a fair market value greater than $15,000." In response, Respondent answered "NIA". 

In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were. worth approximately $100,000 

at that time. 
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58. Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

2017 Financial Disclosure Form 

59. On May 17, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his annual disclosure 

form for the previous calendar year. 

60. Under the section ''Employment'', the form called for Respondent to 

~'[r]epon any paid or self-employed positions (whether tulI; part-time, or temporary, 

regardless of duration) held by you ... other than government employment" In 

response, Respondent disclosed his employment as Counsel for Manatt, and sole 

proprietor ofNSE. 

61. Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the fonn called 

for Respondent to "[r]eport for yourself ... any reportable ownership interests in 

Parties ... held at the tim~ of filing this form that ... [h]ave a fair· market value 

greater than $1S,000." In response, Respondent disclosed his ownership .ofNSE. 

Respondent did not disclose any ownership interest in Eagle B·ancorp, Inc. 

62. ln fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth 

approximately $115,000 at that time .. 

63. The disclosure form required a certification that stated· "I CERTIFY 

that the statements I have made on this form :and on .any continuation. pages attached 

to form are true, complete and correct to the best of my knowledge. I acknowledge 
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my continuing obligation to report any changes in the above information to the 

Boatd Corporate Secretary in writing within 10 days of change~ I unde~tand and 

agree to comply with the Code of Ethics for Me,mbers of the WMATA Board of 

Directors." Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

64. On August 18, 2017, Phillip Staub, a WMATA Ethics Officer, sent a 

memo to Respondent related to his disclosure· form. 

65. In the memo, Mr. Staub stated, "Reporting your interests helps to 

identify and appropriately respond to conflicts. An interest becomes an Actual 

Conflict when it is in a ... business that has or is seeking a contract or agreement 

with WMATA.0 With respect to employment, Mr. Staub stated, "[P]lease note that 

the Code of Ethics includes. personal representation as a type of interest. This means 

anyone for whom you provide professional services, regardless of the matter or 

compensation received, can give rise to a conflict Please ensure that you have 

reported all people and business for which you provide professional services,. or, if 

that is impractical, update your disclosures and recuse yourself whenever such a 

party seeks a contract or agreement with WMATA, has interests that can be directly 

affected by WMA TA or .may realize a benefit or detriment from Board .action.» 
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66. After receiving the ·memo, Respondent did not disclose that he was 

providing professi()nal service$ to parties that had or were seeking a contract or 

agreement with WMATA (see paragraphs 78-84 below) 

2018 Financial DJsdosure Ferm 

67. On April 2, 2018, Respondent causc,d tp be filed hiS. disclosute form for 

the previous calendar year. 

68. Respondent disclosed his employment as an attorney for Manatt. 

69. Under the section "OWnership in Parties or Properties/' the form called 

for Respondent to ~'[r]eport for yourself. . .. any reportable ownership interests in 

Parties ... held at the time of filing this form that ... [h]ave a fair market value 

greater 1han. $15,000." In response, Respondent disclosed his ownership ofNSE. 

Respondent did ~ot disclose any ownership ·interest in Eagle Bancorp, Inc. 

Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $120,000 at that 

time. 

70. Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

71. On May 8,.2018, Mr. Staub sent a memo to Respondent related to his 

disclosure fonn. 

72. The memo contained the same reminders as the previous year. 
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73. Respondent did not disclose that he was providing professional services 

to patties that had or were se•eking a contract or agreement with WMATA (see 

paragraphs 78-84 below) . 

.2019 Financial Disclosure Form 

74. On January l 0, 2019, Respondent caused to be filed his disclosure fottn 

for the previous calendar year. 

75. Respondent disclos.ed his employment as principal ofNSE. 

76. Under the section "Ownership in Parties- or Properties,"' the fo1't11 called 

for l{espondent to "[r]eport for yourself ... any reportable ownership interests in 

Parties ... held at the time of filing this form that ... [h]ave a fair market value 

greater than $15,000." In response. Respondent answered ''NIA.'' Respondent's 

shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $105,000 at that time. 

77. Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

The Forge. Company 

78. The Forge Company was a holding company which owned a 

commercial parking company, Colonial Parking, Inc. On October 1, 2016, Forge 

entered into a consulting agreement with NSE for one year. Forge paidNSE $2S,00.0 

for ''information and advice regarding the metropolitan Washington, D.C. business· 
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community." On February 20, 2017, NSE and Forge renewed the agreement for a 

year from that date and increased the payment to $50,000. 

79. At the time Respo~t entered into the agreement with Forge, Forge's 

subsidiary, Colonial. Parking, was a potential bidder for a WMATA Request for 

Proposal, seeking bids to finance, operate# and. maintain WMAT A's parking 

portfolio. A Colonial.rep~entative attended an information meeting about the RFP 

and met wi1h WMATA's Director of'Patking about WMATA's parking operations. 

80. Another potential bidder was Laz Parking, a competitor of Colonial, 

which was already providing parking services to WMATA under a previous RFP. 

In November 2016, WMATA discovered that its Parking Director had improperly 

shared internal WMATA infonnation with Laz. After a WMATA Office of 

Inspector General investigation, the ·parking Direotor was fired, and the RFP was 

canceled due to the conflict of interest. Laz continued to provide parking services 

to WMATA under the previous RFP. 

81. In 2017, WMATA hired a new Inspector General, Geoff Cherrington. 

Respondent asked Mr. Cherrington to open a new investigation of Laz. Mr. 

Cherrington agreed and, on July 27, 2017, issued a report concluding that no 

additional action was warranted. 
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82. On August 3, 2017, Respondent asked Mr. Cherrington to open another 

investigation based on communications between Laz and WMA TA officials. Mr. 

Cherrington agreed to do so. 

83 ., Shortly after receiving Mr. Cherrington's respomt, Respondent 

forwarded the email to the Forge and Colonial CEO~ 

84. Respondent did not disclose his relatioIW1ip with .FoJge or Colonial on 

any disclosure forms or otheiwise disclose to WMATA the relationship during this 

period. 

85. Respondent's conduct violated the following Rules of Professional 

Conduct: 

a. Rule 8.4(c) in that he engaged in conduct involving reckless 

misrc;pre.sentation. 

m. Statement of Promises 

Disciplinary Couns.el has .n.ot. made any promises regarding 1he underlying 

matter other than to recommend the sanction set forth in this negotiated disposition. 

IV. The Agi:eed•Upon Sanction 

A. A&reed Sanetio11 

Respondent and Disciplinary Counsel have agreed that the appropriate 

sanction for the stipulated misconduct and rule violations in this matter is a three 
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hundred sixty-five (:36S) day suspension. 

B. Relevant Precedent 

Violations of Rule 8..4(c) result -in sanctions ranging from informal admonition 

to disbannent, depending on the severity of the dishonesty. See, e.g., In re Rohde 

(D.C. Board on Profeqional RespoD$ibUii,, Bo-1 Report, 2020) (public censure 

for violating Virginia Rule 8.4( c} by failjng· to disclos~ prior disciplinary matter and 

criminal conviction in his pro hac vice application~); In re Scanio, 919 A.2d 1137 

(D.C. 2007) (30-day s~pension for attom('y who attempted to deceive insurer into 

believing that he had lost income at a rate govenied by his billh1g rate); In re 

Kennedy, 5-42 A.2d 1225 (D . .C.1988) (90-day suspension for lying about salary on 

8ll application for a bank loan); In re Rosen~ 510 A.2d 728 (D.C. 1989) (nine-month 

suspension with fitness for reckless dishonesty in a bar application); Ir, re 

Hutchinson, 534 A.2d 919 (D.C.1987) (one-year suspension. for providing false, 

sworn testimony to government concerning attorney's stock pw.-chase, which he later 

recanted); In re Cleaver-Bascombe, ·9s6 A.2d 1191 (D.C. 2010) (disbarment for 

submitting fraudulent CJA voucher to . Superior Court and presenting perjured 

testimony at resulting disciplinary hearing); In re Shorter. S10 A2d 760 (D.C. 1990) 

( disbarment for attorney whose dishonesty involved the suppression of truth, not just 

affirmative misrepresentations). 
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DISTRlCT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 
BOARD ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSmILitY 

In the Matter of 
• • 
•. 
• 
• • 

• • 

May 16 20234:07pm 

Board on Profeui<mal 
Responsibility JORN K. EV ANS, ESQUIRE 

Res.,.»n,dent • • 
• . 

Diseiplipary Doeket 
No .. 2020~D089 

A Member of the Bar o_f the • • 
.Distriet of Columbia Court of Appeals : 

Bar Number: 362908 
Date of Admission: June 23, 1982 • • 

• --------------· 

AFFIDAVIT OF NEGOTIATED DISCIPLINE 

I, John K. Evans, atliant, pursuant to D. C. Bar Rule XI, § 12.1 and Board 

Rule 17, and in furtherance of my wish to enter into a negotiated disposition, 

declare as follows: 

1. I understand that I. have the right. to the assistance of counsel in this 

matter, and have counsel representing me. 

2. I have carefully reviewed both the accompanying petition for 

negotiated discipline and this affidavit. 

3. I am freely and voluntarily entering into the negotiated disposition, 

and I am not being subjected to coerckm or duress. 

4. I am fully aware of the implications of this negotiated discipline 

including, but not limited to, that by entering into this negotiated discipline I am 



giving up the following rights: 

'(a} My right to a contested hearing before a Hearing Committee at 

which I could Qross-examine adverse -wimesses and compel the attendance of 

witnesses on my behalf; 

(b) My right to teq\lire that Dispiplinary Counsel prove each and 

every charge by clear and convincing evidence; 

(c) My right to seek review of" an advme determination by a 

Hearing Committee by filing exceptions with the Board to the Hearing 

Committee's report and recommendati.ons; and 

(d) My right to appeal to the District of Columbia Court of Appeals 

by filing exceptions to the Board's report. and recommendation .. 

S. I acknowledge that Disciplinary Counsel has made n·o promises other 

than those contained in the petition for negotiated discipline, 

6! I am aware that there is currently pending an investigation into the 

alleged misconduct, the nature of which is set forth in the petition for n~gotiated 

discipline. 

7. I acknowledge the truth of the material facts upon which the 

misconduct described in the accompanying petition for negotiated disposition is 

predicated; 

8. I am agreeing to this negotiated discipline because I believe that I 
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could not successfully defend against disciplinary proceedings based on the 

sti_pulated misconduct. 

9. I understand that the petition for negotiated discipline and this 

affidavit shall become public o~ they are, filed with the Exc,cutive Attorney for· 

the Board on Professional Re$ponsibility, at which time all proceedings before the 

Hearing Committee shall be open to the public, and any exhibits introduced into 

evidenc~ any pleadings filed by the partie$; and any transcript of the proceeding 

shall be available for public inspection. 

10. I undemtand that the negotiated disposition, if approved, may aft'ect 

(a) my present and futu,re ability to practice law, and (b) my bar memberships in 

other jurisdictions. 

11. I understand that the negotiated disposition could be rejected by the 

Hearing Committee pursuant to D.C. Bat Rule XI~.§ 12.l(c) and Board Rule 17.7, 

or by the Court pursuant to D.C. B~ Rule XI,§ 12.l(d). 

12. I understand that any sworn s•tement made by me in the petition for 

negQtiated discipline,. the accompanying affidavit, or the limited hearing may be 

used for purposes of impeachment at any sul)sequent hearing in a contested matter. 

13. I understand that the petition fot negotiated discipline proposes that, 

for my stipulated misconduct, I should receive a three hundred sixty-five (365) day 

suspension. 
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14. I acknowledge that. I am awan, of the requirement to. file an-affidavit 

pursuant to D.C. Bar R,~e XI, Section 14, and .Board 'Rule 9.9, mi4 further 

acknowledge that the· period t>f .my sus"nsion will not be deemed t<;> co.mr;i\en~· 

for PQIP)Ses of llly. ellgibili11. to retum to practice until ~e required affidavit is 

filed with the. Court an6 Bo~4. 

15. In mitigation of my misconduct, I submit the following: 

(-a) I have no.t rec~ived aro1 prior discipline; 

(b) I accept responsibility for my misconduct, including by 

accepting the negotiated discipline; and 

(c) I have cooperated with Disciplinary Counsel. 

I verify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct 

Executed on this iJa day of May 2023. 

' c. 

~ - ' ~ C--foim • ite • • 
ill . 

Respondent 
Bar Number: 362908 
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PILED 

May 22 2023 10:02am 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL: 
BOARD ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITI ~ea,11 m1 Ptetessienal RrsP9nsibilm-

AD HOC HEARING COMMITTEE 

In the Matter of: 
VSB 

EXHIBIT 

JOHN K EVANS, 

Respondent 

A Member of the Bar of the 
District of Columbia Court of Appeals 
(Bar Registration No. 362908) 

Board Docket No. 23.;ND-00 1 
Disciplinary Docket No. 2020~0089 

ORDER 

PLEASE TAKE NOTE THAT the limited hearing in the above-captioned matter will be 

held on June 7, 2023, at 10:00 a.m. via Zoom videoconference. Disciplinary Counsel and 

Respondent shall appear promptly at that time. The parties are directed to avoid scheduling 

conflicting matters and shall inform any court/administrative agency of the prior commitment to 

the disciplinary system. 

If Respondent or counsel are unfamiliar with Zoom, they are advised to consult the Board 

on Professional Responsibility's Guidelines for Remote Disciplinary Proceedings set forth in 

Administrative Order 2020-06 (https://www.dcbar.org/attomey-discipline/attomey-discipline­

news/administrative-order-2020-6-guidelines-for-remote-). In order to facilitate the highest 

quality video transmission, it is recommepded that each party connect to Zoom using a wired 

(rather than wireless) inteme.t connection and test their connection to Zoom through 

bttps://zoom.us/test. If either party has difficulty using the Zoom test, they are advised to contact 

one of the Board's Case Managers at CaseManager@dcbpr.org to test their Zoom connection. 

AD HOC HEARING COMMITTEE 

By: -~-Th- .-~-::-re-. ~- H- ~-+-~-------

Chair 
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cc: 

John K. Evans, Esquire 
c/o Mark H. Tuohey, III, Esquire 
Fred D. Cooke, Jr., Esquire 
mtuohey@bakerlaw.com 
fcooke@rwdhc.com 

Ebtehaj "Eby" Kalan~~ Esquire 
Assistant Disciplinary Counsel 
kalantare@dcodc.org 

2 



THIS REPORT IS NOT A FINAL ORDER OF DISCIPLINE* 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 
BOARD ON PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY 

AD HOC HEARING COMMITTEE 

In the Matter of: Board on Professional 
Responsibility 

JOHN K. EV ANS, 

Respondent. 
Board Docket No. 23-ND-001· 
Disciplinary Docket No. 2020-D089 ----

A Member of the Bar of the 
District of Columbia Court of Appeals 
(Bar Registration No. 362908) 

CORRECTED 
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF AD HOC HEARING COMMITTEE 

APPROVING AMENDED PETITION FOR NEGOTIATED DISCIPLINE 

I. PROCEDURAL IIlSTORY 

This matter came before an Ad Hoc Hearing Committee on June 7, 2023, for 

a limited hearing on an Amended Petition for Negotiated Discipline (the "A,mended 

Petition"). The members of the Hearing Committee are Theodore C. Hirt, Esquire; 

Lisa Harger; and Jay Brozost, Esquire. The Office of Disciplinary Counsel was 

represented by Assistant Disciplinary Counsel Ebtehaj Kalantar. Respondent, John 

K. Evans, was represented by Mark H. Tuohey III, Esquire and Fred D. Cooke, Jr., 

Esquire. 

The Hearing Committee has carefully considered the Amended Petition 

signed by Disciplinary Counsel, Respondent, and Respondent's counsel, the 

supporting affidavit submitted by Respondent ( the "Affidavit"), and the 

representations during the limited hearing made by Respondent, Respondent's 

* Consult the 'Disciplinary Decisions' tab on the Board on Professional 
Responsibility's website www.dcattornevdisci )line.orrr) to view any subsequent 
decisions in this case. 

VSB 

EXHIBIT 

C 



counsel, and Disciplinary Counsel. The Hearing Committee also has fully 

considered the Chair's in camera review of Disciplinary Counsel's files and records, 

and the Chair's ex parte communications with Disciplinary Counsel. For the reasons 

set forth below, the Hearing Committee finds that the negotiated discipline of a 365-

day suspension is justified and recommends that it be imposed by the Court. 

II. FINDINGS PURSUANT TO D.C. BARR. XI,§ 12.l(c) 
AND BOARD RULE 17.5 

The Hearing Committee, after full and careful consideration, finds that: 

I. The Amended Petition and Affidavit are full, complete, and in proper 

order. 

2. Respondent is aware that there is currently pending against hini an 

investigation into allegations of misconduct. Tr. 19;1 Affidavit ,r 6. 

3. The allegations that were brought to the attention of Disciplinary 

Counsel are that, between 2016 and 2019, while a member of the Council of the 

District of Columbia ("Council") and Chair of the Board for the Washington 

Metropolitan Area Transit Authority ("WMA TA"), Respondent did not accurately 

report his financial holdings, clients, and income from his employment apart from 

work at the Council and WMA TA. Respondent's failure to accurately report his 

financial interests and clients constituted reckless misrepresentation in violation of 

D.C. Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4(c). Amended Petition at 1-2, 11. 

1 "Tr." refers to the transcript of the limited hearing held on June 7, 2023. 
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4. Respondent has freely and voluntarily acknowledged that the material 

facts and misconduct reflected in the Amended Petition are true. Tr. 20-21; Affidavit 

11 3, 7. Specifically, Respondent acknowledges that 

(1) In 2005, Respondent purchased 2,047 shares of stock in Fidelity 
and Trust Bank which was subsequently purchased by Eagle Bancorp, 
Inc. (hereinafter referred to as Eagle Bank) for $49,990.50 and 
continued to own the stock until at least November 2019. 

(2) From October 2015 to November 2017, Respondent worked at 
the law firm Manatt, Phelps, & Phillips, LLP. 

(3) In July 2016, Respondent established his own consulting firm, 
NSE Consulting, LLC. Respondent was the sole proprietor of NSE and 
had no employees. 

COUNCIL OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

( 4) Respondent represented Ward 2 as a member of the Council of 
the District of Columbia from 1991 to 2020. 

(5) As a [C]ouncilmember, Respondent was subject to the Code of 
Conduct, a set of statutes and regulations applicable to all District of 
Columbia government officials. The Code of Conduct was enforced by 
the Board on Ethics and Government Accountability ["BEGA"]. 

(6) As a [C]ouncilmember, Respondent was required to file with 
BEGA an annual financial disclosure statement. Respondent 
understood the statement's purpose was to identify potential conflicts 
of interest between his financial interests and his duties as a 
[C]ouncilmember. 

2015 Financial Disclosure Statement 

(7) On May 11, 2016, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 
disclosure statement for the calendar year 2015. 

(8) In response to the question "Did you have any outside 
employment or engage in any outside business during 2015 for which 
you received income of $200 or more?", Respondent answered "Yes" 
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and disclosed that he worked as Counsel at Manatt Phelps. However, 
under "Income Received from Outside activity or employment," 
Respondent stated ''None (or less than $1,001)." In fact, Respondent 
received income from Manatt Phelps in 2015. 

(9) In response to the question "Did you have a beneficial interest in 
or hold any security . . . at the close of 2015 that exceeded in the 
aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of $200 or more?", 
Respondent answered ''No." The question clarified that "securities" 
included stocks. In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were 
worth approximately $100,000 at that time. 

(10) The financial disclosure statement required a certification, which 
stated, "I understand that the making of a false statement on this form 
or materials submitted with this form is punishable by criminal 
penalties pursuant to D.C. Official Code § 22-2405 et seq. (2001)." 
Respondent electronically certified the financial disclosure statement. 

2016 Financial Disclosure Statement 

(11) On May 17, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 
disclosure statement for the calendar year 2016. 

(12) Respondent disclosed that he worked as Counsel at Manatt 
Phelps and was Principal of NSE. 

(13) However, in response to the question "Did you have a beneficial 
interest in or hold any security ... at the close of 2016 that exceeded in 
the aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of $200 or more?", 
Respondent answered ''No." In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle 
Bancorp were worth approximately $115,000 at that time. 

(14) Respondent electronically certified the financial disclosure 
statement. 

May to November 2017 Financial Disclosure Statement 

(15) On November 1, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his 
financial disclosure statement for the period of May to November 2017. 
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( 16) Respondent disclosed that he worked as Of Counsel at Manatt 
Phelps. 

(17) Following that disclosure, there was a section titled "Clients", 
which asked "If you answered 'yes,' because you were paid by a client 
(as opposed to an employer) please identify which, ifany, client had or 
has a contract with the District or who stands to gain a direct financial 
benefit from legislation that was pending before the Council in between 
May 2017 and present day." Respondent used his prior year disclosure 
form and thereby did not disclose the fact that he was a principal of 
NSE (which had been formed in the interim), where some of his clients 
stood to gain a direct financial benefit from legislation that was pending 
before the Council between May 2017 and November 2017 (see 
paragraphs 29-49 below). Furthermore, despite answering "yes" to the 
question of whether he had clients who might gain a financial be[ ne ]fit 
from legislation pending before the Council, he did not list those clients. 

( 18) In response to the question "Did you have a beneficial interest in 
or hold any security . . . between May 2017 and present day that 
exceeded in the aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of $200 or 
more between May 2017 and present day?", Respondent answered 
"No." In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth 
approximately $135,000 at that time. 

(19) Respondent certified the financial disclosure statement. 

2017 Financial Disclosure Statement 

(20) On May 3, 2018, Respondent caused to be filed his financial 
disclosure statement for the calendar year 2017. 

(21) Respondent disclosed that he worked as Of Counsel at Manatt 
Phelps and was Principal ofNSE. 

(22) However, in response to the question "Did you have a beneficial 
interest in or hold any security ... at the close of the previous calendar 
year that exceeded in the aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of 
$200 or more?", Respondent answered ''No." In fact, Respondent's 
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shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $120,000 at that 
time. 

(23) Respondent certified the financial disclosure statement. 

January-June 2018 Financial Disclosure Statement 

(24) On December 14, 2018, Respondent caused to be filed his 
financial disclosure statement for January through June 2018. 

(25) Respondent disclosed that he was Principal of NSE. 

(26) Following that disclosure, there was a section titled "Clients'\ 
which asked "If you answered 'yes,' because you were paid by a client 
(as opposed to an employer) please identify which, if any, client had or 
has a contract with the District or who stands to gain a direct .financial 
benefit from legislation that was pending before the Council during the 
report period." Respondent did not list any clients, despite answering 
'yes;' some of Respondent's NSE clients stood to gain a direct financial 
benefit from legislation that was pending before the Council between 
January and June 2018 (see paragraphs 29-49 below). 

(27) In response to the question "During the reporting period did you 
have a beneficial interest in or hold any security . . . that exceeded in 
the aggregate $1,000 or that produced income of $200 or more?", 
Respondent answered "No." In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle 
Bancorp were worth approximately $100,000 at that time. 

(28) Respondent certified the financial disclosure statement. 

The Forge Company 

(29) The Forge Company was a holding company which owned a 
commercial parking company, Colonial Parking, Inc. 

(30) On October 1, 2016, Forge entered into a consulting agreement 
with NSE for one year. Forge paid NSE $25,000 for "information and 
advice regarding the metropolitan Washington, D.C. business 
community." On February 20, 2017, NSE and Forge renewed the 
agreement for a year from that date and increased the payment to 
$50,000. 
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(31) Forge had a direct financial interest in the tax rate applicable to 
commercial parking operations, which was set in the District's annual 
budget. 

(32) In 2015, Mayor Muriel Bowser had proposed raising the parking 
tax rate from 18% to 22% in her proposed budget for 2016. 

(33) From 2015 to 2017, Respondent, serving as Chair of the 
Council's Finance and Revenue Committee, opposed raising the 
parking tax rate. The parking tax rate remained the same, which 
benefited Forge's financial interests. 

(34) Respondent did not list Forge as a client in any of his financial 
disclosure statements. 

Eastbanc, Inc. 

(35) Eastbanc, Inc. was a commercial real estate and development 
company. 

(36) On November 1, 2016, Eastbanc entered into a consulting 
agreement with NSE for one year. Eastbanc paid NSE $5,000 for 
"information and advice regarding the Washington, D.C. business 
community." 

(3 7) On November 1, 2018, Eastbanc entered into a second consulting 
agreement for one year. Eastbanc paid $5,000 for "information and 
advice regarding the Washington, D.C. business community" and 
"information and advice about federal matters and opportunities." 

(38) In 2010, Eastbanc purchased a parcel of land from the District to 
develop condominiums. As part of the agreement, Eastbanc agreed to 
also build a new library, fire station, and affordable housing unit on the 
land. The legislation approving the deal, the West End Parcels 
Development Omnibus Act of 2010, established a fund to pay 
maintenance expenses of the library and fire station. 

(39) On September 16, 2016, a [C]ouncilmember introduced the West 
End Parcels Development Omnibus Amendment Act of 2016. The plan 
for implementing the Act allocated approximately $4.5 million to the 
maintenance fund. 
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( 40) Eastbanc had a direct financial interest in the Act. An employee 
of Eastbanc testified in support of the Act. 

( 41) On January 6, 2017, the Council enacted the Act, with 
Respondent voting in its favor. 

( 42) Respondent did not list Eastbanc as a client in any of his financial 
disclosure statements. 

Willco 

( 43) Willco was a real estate and development company. 

(44) On December 1, 2016, Willco entered into a consulting 
agreement with NSE for one year. Willco had previously been a client 
of Respondent at Manatt Phelps.· Willco paid NSE $50,000 for 
"information and advice regarding the Washington, D.C. business 
community." 

(45) On November 1, 2018, Willco entered into a second consulting 
agreement for one year. Willco paid $50,000 for "information and 
advice regarding the Washington, D.C. business community" and 
"information and advice about federal matters and opportunities." 

( 46) On March 31, 2017, Respondent introduced the Relieve High 
Unemployment Tax Incentives Act of 2017, which included tax 
incentives for construction of up to three "film, television and digital 
media construction facilities." 

( 4 7) In response to the proposed legislation, Willco developed a 
proposal for a sound studio that would allow it to take advantage of the 
tax incentives. A Willco employee testified in favor of the legislation. 

(48) On February 27, 2018, Respondent's proposed legislation was 
ultimately enacted as the Relieve High Unemployment Tax Incentives 
Act of 2018. 

( 49) Respondent did not list Will co as a client in any of his financial 
disclosure statements. 

(50) Respondent's conduct violated the following Rule[] of 
Professional Conduct: 
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a. Rule 8.4(c) in that he engaged in conduct involving reckless 
misrepresentation. 

WASIDNGTON METRO AREA TRANSIT AUTHORITY 

( 51) Respondent served on the Board of Directors of the Washington 
Metro Area Transit Authority from January 2015 to June 2019. 
Respondent served as Chairman of the Board from January 2016 to 
June 2019. 

(52) As a member of the WMATA Board, Respondent was required 
to submit annual disclosure forms. 

2015 Financial Disclosure Form 

(53) On September 22, 2015, Respondent caused to be filed his annual 
disclosure form for the previous calendar year. 

(54) Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the form 
called for Respondent to "[r ]eport for yourself and all Household 
Members any reportable ownership interests in Parties . . . held at the 
time of filing this form that ... [h]ave a fair market value greater than 
$15,000." The form listed stocks as an example of such an ownership 
interest. In response, Respondent answered "NI A". In fact, 
Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately 
$90,000 at that time. 

(55) The disclosure form required a certification that stated "I 
CERTIFY that the statements I have made on this form are true, 
complete and correct . to the best of my knowledge. I further 
acknowledge my continuing obligation to report any changes in the 
above information to the Board Secretary in writing within 10 days of 
change." Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

2016 Financial Disclosure Form 

(56) On April 29, 2016, Respondent caused to be filed his· annual 
disclosure form for the previous calendar year. 

(57) Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the form 
called for Respondent to "[ r ]eport for yourself and all Household 
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Members any reportable ownership interests in Parties ... held at the 
time of filing this form that ... [h ]ave a fair market value greater than 
$15,000." In response, Respondent answered "NIA" In fact, 
Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately 
$100,000 at that time. 

(58) Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

2017 Financial Disclosure Form 

(59) On May 17, 2017, Respondent caused to be filed his annual 
disclosure form for the previous calendar year. 

(60) Under the section "Employment", the form called for 
Respondent to "[r]eport any paid or self-employed positions (whether 
full, part-time, or temporary, regardless of duration) held by you ... 
other than government employment." In response, Respondent 
disclosed his employment as Counsel for Manatt, and sole proprietor of 
NSE. 

( 61) Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the form 
called for Respondent to "[r]eport for yourself ... any reportable 
ownership interests in Parties ... held at the time of filing this form that 
... [h]ave a fair market value greater than $15,000." In response, 
Respondent disclosed his ownership of NSE. Respondent did not 
disclose any ownership interest in Eagle Bancorp, Inc. 

(62) In fact, Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth 
approximately $115,000 at that time. 

( 63) The disclosure form required a certification that stated "I 
CERTIFY that the statements I have made on this form and on any 
continuation pages attached to form are true, complete and correct to 
the best of my knowledge. I acknowledge my continuing obligation to 
report any changes in the above information to the Board Corporate 
Secretary in writing within IO days of change. I understand and agree 
to comply with the Code of Ethics for Members of the WMA TA Board 
of Directors." Respondent certified the disclosure form. 
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(64) On August 18, 2017, Phillip Staub, a WMATA Ethics Officer, 
sent a memo to Respondent related to his disclosure form. 

(65) In the memo, Mr. Staub stated, "Reporting your interests helps 
to identify and appropriately respond to conflicts. An interest becomes 
an Actual Conflict when it is in a . . . business that has or is seeking a 
contract or agreement with WMA TA." With respect to employment, 
Mr. Staub stated, "[P]lease note that the Code of Ethics includes 
personal representation as a type of interest. This means anyone for 
whom you provide professional services, regardless of the matter or 
compensation received, can give rise to a conflict. Please ensure that 
you have reported • all people and business for which you provide 
professional services, or, if that is impractical, update your disclosures 
and recuse yourself whenever such a party seeks a contract or 
agreement with WMA TA, has interests that can be directly affected by 
WMA TA or may realize a benefit or detriment from Board action." 

(66) After receiving the memo, Respondent did not disclose that he 
was providing professional services to parties that had or were seeking 
a contract or agreement with WMATA (see paragraphs 78-84 below). 

2018 Financial Disclosure Form 

(67) On April 2, 2018, Respondent caused to be filed his disclosure 
form for the previous calendar year. 

( 68) Respondent disclosed his employment as an attorney for Manatt. 

(69) Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the form 
called for Respondent to "[ r ]eport for yourself . . . any reportable 
ownership interests in Parties ... held at the time of filing this form that 
... [h]ave a fair market value greater than $15,000." In response, 
Respondent disclosed his ownership of NSE. Respondent did not 
disclose any ownership interest in Eagle Bancorp, Inc. Respondent's 
shares of Eagle Bancorp were worth approximately $120,000 at that 
time. 

(70) Respondent certified the disclosure form. 
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(71) On May 8, 2018, Mr. Staub sent a memo to Respondent related 
to his disclosure form. 

(72) The memo contained the same reminders as the previous year. 

(73) Respondent did not disclose that he was providing professional 
services to parties that had or were seeking a contract or agreement with 
WMATA (see paragraphs 78-84 below). 

2019 Financial Disclosure Form 

(74) On January 10, 2019, Respondent caused to be filed his 
disclosure form for the previous calendar year. 

(75) Respondent disclosed his employment as principal ofNSE. 

(76) Under the section "Ownership in Parties or Properties," the form 
called for Respondent to "[ r ]eport for yourself . . . any reportable 
ownership interests in Parties ... held at the time of filing this form that 
... [h]ave a fair market value greater than $15,000." In response, 
Respondent answered "NIA." Respondent's shares of Eagle Bancorp 
were worth approximately $105,000 at that time. 

(77) Respondent certified the disclosure form. 

The Forge Company 

(78) The Forge Company was a holding company which owned a 
commercial parking company, Colonial Parking, Inc. On October 1, 
2016, Forge entered into a consulting agreement with NSE for one year. 
Forge paid NSE $25,000 for •'information and advice regarding the 
metropolitan Washington, D.C. business community." On February 20, 
2017, NSE and Forge renewed the agreement for a year from that date 
and increased the payment to $50,000. 

(79) At the time Respondent entered into the agreement with Forge, 
Forge's subsidiary, Colonial Parking, was a potential bidder for a 
WMA TA Request for Proposal, seeking bids to finance, operate, and 
maintain WMATA's parking portfolio. A Colonial representative 
attended an information meeting about the RFP and met with 
WMA TA' s Director of Parking about WMA TA' s parking operations. 
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(80) Another potential bidder was Laz Parking, a competitor of 
Colonial, which was already providing parking services to WMA TA 
under a previous RFP. In November 2016, WMATA discovered that its 
Parking Director had improperly shared internal WMATA information 
with Laz. After a WMATA Office of Inspector General investigation, 
the Parking Director was fired, and the RFP was canceled· due tp the 
conflict of interest. Laz continued to provide parking services to 
WMA TA under the previous RFP. 

(81) In 2017, WMA TA hired a new Inspector General, Geoff 
Cherrington. Respondent asked Mr. Cherrington to open a new 
investigation of Laz. Mr. Cherrington agreed and, on July 27, 2017, 
issued a report concluding that no additional action was warranted. 

(82) On August 3, 2017, Respondent asked Mr. Cherrington to open 
another investigation based on communications between Laz and 
WMATA officials. Mr. Cherrington agreed to do so. 

(83) Shortly after receiving Mr. Cherrington's response, Respondent 
forwarded the email to the Forge and Colonial CEO. 

(84) Respondent did not disclose his relationship with Forge or 
Colonial on any disclosure forms or otherwise disclose to WMAT A the 
relationship during this period. 

(85) Respondent's conduct violated the following Rule[] of 
Professional Conduct: 

a. Rule 8.4(c) in that he engaged in conduct involving reckless 
misrepresentation. 

Amended Petition at 2-18 ("Stipulation of Facts and Charges [numbered 1 to 

85]" (hereinafter "stipulated facts")). 

5. Respondent is agreeing to the disposition because Respondent believes 

that he cannot successfully defend against discipline based on the stipulated 

misconduct. Tr. 18; Affidavit 1 8. 
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6. Disciplinary Counsel has made no promise to Respondent other than 

what is contained in the Amended Petition. Affidavit 1 5. That promise is that 

Disciplinary Counsel will recommend the sanction set forth in the Amended Petition. 

Am.ended Petition at 18. Respondent confirmed during the limited hearing that there 

have been no other promises or inducements other than those set forth in the 

Amended Petition. Tr. 21. 

7. Respondent has conferred with his counsel. Tr. 12. 

8. Respondent has freely and voluntarily acknowledged the facts and 

misconduct reflected in the Amended Petition and agreed to the sanction set forth 

therein. Tr. 20-21; Affidavit13. 

9. Respondent is not being subjected to coercion or duress. Tr. 21; 

Affidavit ,r 3. 

10. Respondent is competent and was not under the influence of any 

substance or medication that would affect his ability to make informed decisions at 

the limited hearing. Tr. 12-13. 

11. Respondent is fully aware of the implications of the disposition being 

entered into, including, but not limited to, the following: 

a) he will waive his right to cross-examine adverse witnesses and 
to compel witnesses to appear on his behalf; 

b) he will waive his right to have Disciplinary Counsel prove each 
and every charge by clear and convincing evidence; 

c) he will waive his right to file exceptions to reports and 
recommendations filed with the Board and with the Court; 
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d) the negotiated disposition, if approved, may affect his present 
and future ability to practice law; 

e) the negotiated disposition, if approved, may affect his bar 
memberships in other jurisdictions; and 

f) any sworn statement by Respondent in his affidavit or any 
statements made by Respondent during the proceeding may be used to 
impeach his testimony if there is a subsequent hearing on the merits. 

Tr. 14-17; Affidavit fl 4, 10, 12. 

12. Respondent and Disciplinary Counsel have agreed that the sanction in 

this matter should be a 365-day suspension. Amended Petition at 18-19; Tr. 20-21. 

a) Respondent further understands that he must file with the Court 

an affidavit pursuant to D.C. Bar R. XI,§ 14(g) in order for his suspension to 

be deemed effective for purposes of reinstatement. Tr. 23; Affidavit ,r 14. 

13. The Amended Petition contains no additional facts in aggravation of 

sanction, and no such evidence was presented during the limited hearing. 

14. The Amended Petition sets forth the following circumstances m 

mitigation of sanction, to which both parties stipulate: (a) Respondent has no prior 

discipline; (b) Respondent has taken responsibility for his misconduct and has 

demonstrated remorse; and ( c) Respondent has fully cooperated with Disciplinary 

Counsel. Amended Petition at 20; Tr. 21-22; Affidavit ,r 15. 

15. There were no complainants to benotifiedofthe limited hearing. Tr. 9. 

III. DISCUSSION 

The Hearing Committee shall recommend approval of a petition for 

negotiated discipline if it finds: 
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(I) The attorney has knowingly and voluntarily acknowledged the facts 
and misconduct reflected in the petition and agreed to the sanction set 
forth therein; 

(2) The facts set forth in the petition or as shown at the hearing support 
the admission of misconduct and the agreed upon sanction; and 

(3) The sanction agreed upon is justified .... 

D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12. l(c)(l)-(3); see also Board Rule 17.S(a)(i)-(iii). 

A. Respondent Has Knowingly and Voluntarily Acknowledged the Facts and 
Misconduct and Agreed to the Stipulated Sanction. 

The Hearing Committee finds that Respondent has knowingly and voluntarily 

acknowledged the facts and misconduct reflected in the Amended Petition and 

agreed to the sanction therein. Respondent, after being placed under oath, admitted 

the stipulated facts and charges set forth in the Amended Petition, and denied that 

he is under duress or has been coerced into entering into this disposition. See supra 

Paragraphs 8-9. Respondent understands the implications and consequences of 

entering into this negotiated discipline. See supra Paragraph 11. 

Respondent has acknowledged that any and all promises that have been made 

to him by Disciplinary Counsel as part of this negotiated discipline are set forth in 

writing in the Amended Petition and that there are no other promises or inducements 

that have been made to him. See supra Paragraph 6. 

B. The Stipulated Facts Support the Admissions of Misconduct and the Agreed­
Upon Sanction. 

The Hearing Committee has carefully reviewed the facts set forth in the 

Amended Petition and established during the hearing and concludes that they 

support the admission of misconduct and the agreed-upon sanction. Moreover, 
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Respondent is agreeing to this negotiated discipline because he believes that he could 

not successfully defend against the misconduct described in the Amended Petition. 

See supra Paragraph 5. 

With regard to the second factor, the Amended Petition states that Respondent 

violated Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4( c) in that he made reckless 

misrepresentations. 2 The evidence supports Respondent's admission that he 

violated Rule 8.4(c) in that the stipulated facts describe that Respondent made 

numerous reckless misrepresentations regarding his clients, income, and/or holdings 

in disclosure forms that he was required to file by virtue of his membership on the 

Council of the District of Columbia, and his membership on the WMA TA Board. 

In this case, the agreed-upon facts in the Amended Petition demonstrate that 

Respondent engaged in a pattern of serious misconduct over the course of a four­

year period. At the time that he was a member of the District of Columbia City 

Council and served as Chair of the WMA TA Board, Respondent consistently filed 

misleading financial disclosure statements - between 2016 and 2019. See supra 

Paragraph 3. These statements were filed annually and contained reckless 

misrepresentations - the omission of Respondent's income from outside sources and 

the identification of his private clients. See, e.g., supra stipulated facts 8-9, 13, 18, 

22 (all as to income); 34, 42, 49, 84 (all as to clients). For example, according to the 

stipulated facts, the monetary value of Respondent's shares of Eagle Bank stocks 

2 Recklessness is a sufficient state of mind for misrepresentations under Rule 8.4( c ). 
See In re Brown, 112 A.3d 913, 916, 918 (D.C. 2015) (per curiam). 
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varied over a five-year period from $90,000 to $135,000, but Respondent never 

disclosed his ownership of the stock. See supra stipulated facts 9, 13, 18, 22, 27, 54, 

57, 62, 69, 76.3 In addition, Respondent's consulting company NSE received 

monies for annual consulting agreements with private clients ranging from $10,000 

to $100,000 total per client. See supra stipulated facts 30, 36-37, 44-45, 78. 

Respondent certified the accuracy of each financial disclosure statement. See supra 

stipulated facts 10, 14, 19, 23, 28, 55, 58, 63, 70, 77. 

Moreover, in August 2017, despite the fact that a WMATA ethics officer 

counseled Respondent as to the importance of his reporting any outside interests and 

related disclosures, Respondent still failed to disclose "that he was providing 

professional services to parties that had or were seeking a contract or agreement with 

WMATA." See supra stipulated facts 64-66. In May 2018, the ethics officer sent 

Respondent a reminder of those obligations, yet Respondent again "did not disclose 

that he was providing professional services to parties that had or were seeking a 

contract or agreement with WMA TA." See supra stipulated facts 71-73. 

Respondent also failed to disclose his financial relationships during time 

periods in which matters of direct interest to his private clients were pending before 

the Council. See supra stipulated facts 30-34, 36-42, 44-49. First, from. 2015 to 

2017, Respondent, while serving as Chair of the Council's Finance and Revenue 

Committee, opposed raising the City's parking tax rate (from 18% to 22%). See 

3 In 2005, Respondent purchased the stock for $49,990.50. See supra stipulated 
fact l. Within fifteen years, the stock had doubled in value. See supra stipulated 
fact 27. 
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supra stipulated facts 32-33. Yet Respondent failed to disclose that his client, the 

Forge Company, had a direct financial interest in the tax rate applicable to 

commercial parking. See supra stipulated facts 30-31, 34. The Forge Company had 

paid $25,000 and $50,000 to NSE in 2016 and 2017, respectively, for Respondent's 

consulting services. See supra stipulated fact 30. 

Second, in January 2017, Respondent, in his capacity as a Councilmember, 

voted in favor of legislation that allocated approximately $4.5 million to a 

maintenance fund supporting development on a parcel of land in the West End of 

the District. See supra stipulated facts 38-39, 41. Yet Respondent did not identify 

his client, Eastbanc, Inc., a commercial real estate and development company that 

had a "direct financial interest" in that legislation, in any of his financial disclosure 

statements. See supra stipulated facts 35-42. 

Third, in March 2017, Respondent, in his capacity as a Councilmember, 

introduced legislation that included tax incentives for construction of various media 

facilities, a statute ultimately enacted in February 2018. See supra stipulated facts 

46-48. During that time period, Willco, one of Respondent's clients, developed a 

proposal that would allow it to take advantage of those tax incentives. See supra 

stipulated fact 47. Willco paid NSE a total of$100,000 for Respondent's consulting 

services during 2016 and 2018. See supra stipulated facts 44-45. Yet, Respondent 

did not list Willco or the received payments in any of his financial disclosure 

statements. See supra stipulated fact 49. 
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Additionally, in 2017, while serving as the Chair of the WMATA Board, 

Respondent asked WMATA's Inspector General to open two separate investigations 

into a company that had held a parking services contract with WMATA. See supra 

stipulated facts 80-82. At that time, however, Respondent was representing the 

Forge Company which owned a commercial parking company that was a competitor 

for such services, and NSE, as noted above, had received $75,000 in 2016-2017 for 

Respondent's consulting services described as '"information and advice regarding 

the metropolitan Washington, D.C. business community."' See supra stipulated 

facts 78-80. Yet, Respondent did not disclose his financial relationship with the 

Forge Company on any disclosure statements or otherwise disclose to WMATA his 

relationship to the competitor parking company during the relevant time period. See 

supra stipulated fact 84. 

These four examples of Respondent's involvement in Council and WMATA 

legislative and regulatory activities over a multiyear period - while simultaneously 

representing private clients who had a direct interest in those activities - fonn a 

pattern of reckless disregard of Respondent's ethical obligations to provide accurate 

and complete financial disclosure statements. As noted in the Amended Petition, 

"[s]everal of Respondent's clients during the relevant reporting period had a 

financial interest in legislation before the Council or other business with the city or 

WMA TA over which Respondent had influence," and his failure to report these 

financial interests and identities of clients constituted reckless misrepresentation in 

violation of Rule 8.4( c ). Amended Petition at 2. 
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C. The Agreed-Upon Sanction Is Justified. 

The third factor the Hearing Committee must consider is whether the sanction 

agreed upon is justified. See D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12.l(c); Board Rule 17.S(a)(iii) 

( explaining that hearing committees should consider "the record as a whole, 

including the nature of the misconduct; any charges or investigations that 

Disciplinary Counsel has agreed not to pursue, the strengths or weaknesses of 

Disciplinary Counsel's evidence, any circumstances in aggravation and mitigation 

(including respondent's cooperation with Disciplinary Counsel and acceptance of 

responsibility), and relevant precedent"); In re Johnson, 984 A.2d 176, 181 (D.C. 

2009) (per curiam) (providing that a negotiated sanction may not be "unduly 

lenient"). Based on the record as a whole, including the stipulated circumstances in 

mitigation, the Hearing Committee Chair's in camera review of Disciplinary 

Counsel's investigative file and ex parte discussions with Disciplinary Counsel, the 

Confidential Appendix, and the Committee's review of relevant precedent, the 

Hearing Committee concludes that the agreed-upon sanction is justified and not 

unduly lenient, for the following reasons: 

The stipulated facts, as described above, support Respondent's admissions 

that he violated Rule 8.4( c) in his role both as a Councilmember and as Chair of 

WMAT A's Board. The Hearing Committee concludes that Respondent was credible 

during his limited hearing testimony. Because the limited hearing was conducted 

remotely via Zoom, understandably the Hearing Committee did not have an 

opporturiity, equivalent to an in-courtroom proceeding, to view Respondent's 
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demeanor as he answered the questions posed to him. Nevertheless, the Hearing 

Committee observed that Respondent answered all of the questions posed to him in 

a straightforward, coherent, and unwavering voice. The Hearing Committee 

observed no hesitation or equivocation in his answers. See, e.g., Tr. 1 R-21. 

As discussed above, Respondent's vio1ations of Rule 8.4(c) are based upon a 

series and pattern of misrepresentations in his fmancial disclosure statements over 

an approximately four-year period. The proposed sanction of a 365-day suspension 

from the practice of law is justified and not unduly lenient in light of sanctions 

imposed for cases involving similar misconduct in contested cases_. As in this case, 

where an attorney has engaged in repeated acts of dishonest behavior, the Court has 

imposed a one-year suspension. See, e.g., In re Belardi, 891 A.2d 224, 224-25 & 

n.1 (D.C. 2006) (per curiam) (one-year suspension without a fitness requirement 

where the respondent had pleaded guilty to three counts of making false statements 

to a government agency); In re Bowser, 771 A.2d 1002, 1003 (D.C. 2001) (per 

curiam) ( one-year suspension for making false statements to the Immigration and 

Naturalization Service ("INS") in connection with a client's effort to become a 

naturalized citizen); In re Thompson, 538 A.2d 247, 247-48 (D.C. 1987) (per curiam) 

( one-year suspension for knowingly assisting in the presentation of false statements 

to the INS in connection with a client's effort to become a lawful permanent resident 

alien).4 Respondent's violations of Rule 8.4(c), which involved serious, repeated 

4 See also In re Rigas, 9 A.3d 494, 496-99 (D.C. 2010) {approving a one-year 
suspension in a negotiated discipline case for making a false statement in connection 
with a stock purchase, a misdemeanor, in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 220(e)). 
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misrepresentations to two government entities, merit the proposed suspension under 

a long line of Court decisions. 

For example, in Thompson, the attorney had knowingly assisted his client's 

presentation of false statements to the INS, and subsequently was convicted of the 

applicable federal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1001. 538 A.2d at 247. The Court observed 

that "misrepresentation to a federal agency is quite serious." Id. at 248. Moreover, 

"it is beyond argument that there was a clear failure of the obligation to the public 

and to the profession to be scrupulously honest." Id.; see also In re Hutchinson, 534 

A.2d 919, 924 (D.C. 1987) (en bane) ("Lawyers have a greater duty than ordinary 

citizens to be scrupulously honest at all times, for honesty is basic to the practice of 

law." (internal quotations omitted)). In this case, Respondent's misrepresentations 

were to two government entities on which he served. 5 

Finally, in mitigation of any proposed sanction, the Hearing Committee finds 

that Respondent (I) has no prior discipline, (2) has taken responsibility for his 

misconduct and has demonstrated remorse, and (3) has fully cooperated with 

Disciplinary Counsel. See Paragraph 14. There are no facts in aggravation of the 

proposed sanction. See Paragraph 13. 

5 See also In re Clinesmith, ·258 A.3d 161 (D.C. 2021) (per curiam) (approving a 
negotiated discipline of a one-year suspension for attorney who pleaded guilty to 
modifying a document while employed by the FBI as an Assistant General Counsel 
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3) and Rules 8.4(b) and (c)). 
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IV. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 

For the reasons stated above, it is the recommendation of this Hearing 

Committee that the negotiated discipline be approved and that the Court suspend 

Respondent for 365 days. 

AD HOC HEARING COMMITTEE 

Chair 

Lisa M. Harger 
Public Member 

Jay Brozost, Esquire 
Attorney Member 
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Notice: This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the Atlantic 
and Maryland Reporters. Users are requested to notify the Clerk of the Court of 
any formal errors so that corrections may be made before the bound volumes go 
to press. 

Judge. 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS 

No. 23-BG-0741 

IN RE JOHN K. Ev ANS, RESPONDENT. 

Fil.ED 'J.0/:t:U:u».:t> 

D.arict of Colunita 
CourtofAooea 

~cJt;~ -
CNNkdCcurt 

A Member of the Bar of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals 
(Bar Registration No. 362908) 

On Report and Reconnnendation of the Board on Professional 
Responsibility Ad Hoc Hearing Committee 

Approving Petition for Negotiated Discipline 
(BDN: 23-ND-001; DDN: 2020-D089) 

(Decided: October 12, 2023) 

Before EASTERLY and MCLEESE, Associate Judges, and STEADMAN, Senior 

PER CURIAM: This decision is non-precedential. Please refer to D.C. Bar R. 

XI, § 12.l(d) regarding the appropriate citation of this opinion. 

In this disciplinary matter, the Hearing Committee recommends approval of a 

petition for negotiated attorney discipline. See D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12.l(c). 

Respondent John K. Evans voluntarily acknowledged that, between 2015 and 2019, 

he failed to accurately report his financial holdings, outside income, and outside 
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clients in required disclosure forms in connection with his service as a member of 

the Council of the District of Columbia and the Board of Directors ofthe Washington 

Area Metropolitan Transit Authority. As a result, respondent admits that he engaged 

in conduct involving reckless dishonesty in violation ofD.C. R. Pro. Conduct 8.4(c). 

The proposed discipline consists of a 365-day suspension. 

Having reviewed the Committee's recommendation in accordance with our 

procedures in uncontested disciplinarycases,see D.C. BarR. XI,§ 12.l(d), we agree 

that this case is appropriate for negotiated discipline and that "the agreed-upon 

sanction is 'justified,''' In re Mensah, 262 A.3d 1100, 1104 (D.C. 2021) (per curiam) 

(quoting D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12.l(c)(3)), in light of reasonably analogous precedents 

for false statements made to governmental entities. See, e.g., In re Hutchinson, 534 

A.2d 919 (D.C. 1987) (en bane); In re Thompson, 538 A.2d 247 (D.C. 1987) (per 

curiam); In re Cerroni, 683 A.2d 150 (D.C. 1996) (per curiam); In re Bowser, 771 

A.2d 1002 (D.C. 2001) (per curiam); In re Belardi, 891 A.2d 224 (D.C. 2006) (per 

curiam); In re Rigas, 9 A.3d 494 (D.C. 2010); In re Tun, 195 A.3d 65 (D.C. 2018); 

In re Clinesmith, 258 A.3d 161 (D.C. 2021) (per curiam); see also Mensah, 262 A.3d 

at 1104 ("[T]he sanctions imposed in negotiated-discipline cases may in some cases 

be less stringent than would otherwise have been appropriate in a contested­

discipline case."). Accordingly, it is 
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ORDERED that respondent John K. Evans is hereby suspended from the 

practice of law in the District of Columbia for 365 days. We direct respondent's 

attention to D.C. Bar R. XI, § 14(g), which requires the filing of an affidavit, both 

with this court and the Board on Professional Responsibility, for purposes of 

reinstatement in accordance with D.C. Bar R. XI,§ 16, and Bd. Pro. Resp. R. 9. 

So ordered. 
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